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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO

UNITED STATES OF AMERICAgx rel
Robbie Garrett and James Daniel Garretf, Case No. 2:1%v-00314-CWD
and ROBBIE GARRETT and JAMES
DANIEL GARRETT, individually,
MEMORANDUM DECISION AND
ORDER RE: MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiffs,
(DKT. 36)

V.

KOOTENAI HOSPITAL DISTRICT d/b/a
KOOTENAI HEALTH,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Robbie Garrett and James Daniel Garre#létors) filed thiqui tamaction under
seal against Bfendant Kootenai Hospital District, d/b/a Kootenai Health (Kootenai
Health),on July 31, 2017(Dkt. 1.) An amended complairwas filedon September 19,
2019, asserting claims undire False Claims Act (FCA), 31 U.S.C3%29et seq and
Idaho common law. (Dkt. 29.7he FCA fraud claims stem from th&elators assertion
that Kootenai Health engaged in a scheme to commit fraud by systemically violating
Medicare laws tacollectundeserved reimbursements from the United States. (Dlkdt 29
112, 3) Ms. Garrett individually, bringsclaims of FCA retaliation and termination of

employment in violation opublic policyunder Idaho common law.
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Following a period of investigation, the United States of America declined to
interveneand the case was unseal@kt. 11, 12, 32 34) Presently before the Court is
Kootenai Helih’'s motionto dismissall claimsin the amended complaint. (Dkt. 3@he
parties have filed responsive briefing and thation is ripe for the Court’s review. (DKt.
42, 46.) Upon finding the facts and legal arguments are adequately presentdarigfshe
and record, thCourt will decidethe motion orthe record without oral argument. For the
reasons that follow, the Court will deny the motion to disrhiss.

BACKGROUND?

RelatorRobbie Garrett worked for Kootenai Health from approximately Auglist
2015 until July 24, 201,7as theexecutive @ector ofquality srvices. (Dkt. 29 at 19.)
RelatorJames Daniel Garrett is Ms. Garrett’s spouse. Kootenai Health owns and operates
a hospital, Kootenai Medical Centegcated in Coeur d’Alene, Idahas well as
approximately fiftyaffiliated clinics and other facilities in Idaho, Montana, Oregon, and
Washington.The complaint alleges the majority #footenai Health’'s patientsvere
Medicare beneficiarieand just overonehalf of Kootenai Health’'s net patit-service

revenues came from the Medicare program. (Dkt. 29 at § 29.)

L All parties have consented to proceed before a United States Magistrate Judg@8un@:C.
§ 636(c) and Fed. R. Civ. P. 73. (Dkt. 15.)

2 The factsare recited from the allegations in the first amended complainmastl betaken as

true forpurposes oflecidingthis motion.Knievel v. ESPN393 F.3d 1068, 1072 (9th Cir. 2005).
The Court will hereafterrefer to the first amended complaint as “the complaint
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Medicareis a federally fundegbrogram thajpays for certain healthcare services
provided to qualified Medicare beneficiaries. 42 U.S.Cl385c. The program is
administered byhe Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), which is part of
the United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). CMS enters into
agreements with healthcare providers, such as Kootenai Health, to establish their
eligibility to participate in the Medicare prografaligible participating providers may
seek reimbursement from CMS for services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries.
During thetime relevant to the claims, Kootenai Health was an authompaeticipating
provider of Medicare and, therefore, eligiblestdomitclaims to CMS for reimbursement
from federal funds.

Part A of the Medicare program authorizes payment of federal funds for inpatient
hospital services and other health servideart B applies to outpatient services. To
become an authorized Medicare participating providdroth Medicare Part A and Part
B, Kootenai Health céfied that it would abide by Medicare laws, regulations, and
program instructionsand agreedthat Medicare’'s paymeérof claims was conditiced
upon its compliance with the same and with all conditions of participation.

To receive reimbursement from Medicdog services provided to beneficiarjes
Kootenai Health submitted claim form CMS-1500, which made the following
certification:

In submitting this claim for payment from federal funds, | certify that: 1)

the information on this form is true, accurate and complete ... 3) | have

provided orwill provide sufficient information required to allow the

government to make anformed eligibility and payment decision; 4) this
claim, whether submitted by n@ on my behalf by my designated billing

MEMORANDUM DECISION AND ORDER- 3



company, complies with all applicabMedicare and/or Medicaid laws,

regulations, and program instructions for payment.
(Dkt. 29 at 1 146 and Ex. J.)

In her position at Kootenai HealttMs. Garrett was responsible for auditing
Kootenai Health’s practices to ensure compliance with federal regulations. Ms. Garrett
alleges thatduring the course of her employment, she personally obseaved her
audits revealedwidespreadriolations offederal laws, regulations, and guidelingébe
complaint identifies six specific actsthat make upthe alleged fraudulentscheme.
Namely, thakKootenai Healtlpresented false clainad used false records or statements
material to those claims to obtain Medicare reimbursements for:

Services rendered at facilities it fraudulently represented as “previder
based” facilities.

Services provided by nephysicians ging the Medicare Physicians’ Fee
Schedule (MPFS).

Inpatient admissions without physicians’ orders.

Patients billed for co-payments in violation of the Emergency Medical
Treatment and Labor Act (EMTLA).

Claims that contained false diagnosis codes.

Patients whoseights Kootenai Health had violatelly failing to provide
the requisite discharge notices and using handcuffs as restraints.

(Dkt. 29.) Relators allegehese fraudulent acts caused Medicare to pay Kootenai Health
reimbursements it was not otherwise entitledetteive lased on Kootenai Healthfalse
cerification that it had provided services or complied vathMedicarelaws, regulations,

and program requirements when, in fact, it had not done so. (Dkt. 29 at 1 1-5.)
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Ms. Garrett ontends thatwhile working at Kootenai Healtlshe made numerous
attempts to correct thallegedillegal practices and madaumerous reportabout those
practicego her supervisors and Kootenai Heattlirectors,but was met with resistance,
harassment, andltimately, termination fromdr employmentAs a resultRelators filed
this action raising the following claims against Kootenai Health:

First Claim for Relief: presentation of false claims in violation of Section
3729(a)(1)(A) of the FCA.

Second Claim for Relief: making or using false record or statement to cause
false claim to be paid in violation of Section 3729(a)(1)(B) of the FCA.

Third Claim for Relief: retaliation in violation of Section 3730(h) of the
FCA.

Fourth Claim for Relief: termination of employment in violationpaiblic
policy.

(Dkt. 29.) Kootenai Health moweto dismiss allof the claims pursuant to Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure 8, 9(b), and 12(b)(6). (Dkt. 36.)
STANDARD OF LAW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) requitasshort and plain statement of
the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to religdifficientto “give the defendant
fair notice of what the ... claim is and the grounds upon which it reBe&Hi.’Atlantic
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (200700 survivea challengeunder Rule 12(b)(6),
a “complaint must plead ‘sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to
relief that is plausible on its face.Godecke ex rel. US.v. Kinetic Concepts, Inc937
F.3d 1201, 1208 (9th Cir. 2019) (quotidghcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)

(quotingTwombly 550 U.Sat570)).
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“A Rule 12(b)(6) dismissaktan be based on the lack of a cognizable legal theory
or the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal théargdecke 937
F.3d at 1208 (quotingBalistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir.
1990)).When reviewing a motion to dismiss, the Court must accept all factual allegations
in the complaint as true and construe the pleadings in the light most favorable to the
nonmoving partyKnievel v. ESPN393 F.3d 1068, 1072 (9th Cir. 2005).

Fraud claimaunder the FCA must not only be plausibleder Rule8(a), butalso
must bepled with particularity under Rule 9(bBodecke 937 F.3d at 1208citing U.S.
ex rel. Cafasso v. Gen. Dynamics C4 Sys., B&7 F.3d 1047, 10585 (9th Cir. 2011)
“Rule 9(b) requires that the circumstances alleged to constitute fraud be specifit eno
to give the defendant notice of the particular misconduct so that it can defend against the
charge.”ld. (citing Kearns v. Ford Motor C9.567 F.3d 1120, 1124 (9th Cir. 2009)p
adequately plead fraud with particularitypkintiff must allege thé* who, what, when,
where, and howof the misconductharged,” as well as ‘what is false or misleading
about [the purportedly fraudulent] statement, and why it is fal&eS’.ex rel. Silingo v.
WellPoint, Inc, 904 F.3d 667, 676 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoti@gfasso 637 F.3dat 1055);
see also Ebeid ex rel. U.S. v. Lungw@t6 F.3d 993, 998 (9th Cir. 2010).

ANALYSIS

1 Fraud Under the FCA

The FCAimposes liabity on anyone who “knowingly presents, or causes to be
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval,” or “knowingly makes,

uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or
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fraudulent claim.” 31 U.S.C88 3729(a)(1)(A), (B).To state a claim under the FGér

both the first and second claims for religfe Relatorsnust show: “(1) a false statement

or fraudulent course of conduct, (2) made with scienter, (3) that was material, causing (4)
the government to pay out money or forfeit moneys d@mdecke 937 F.3dat 1208
(U.S.ex rel. Campie v. Gilead Sciences, J862 F.3d 890899 (9th Cir. 2017). The

falsity and materiality allegations must satisfy Rule 9(b)’s particularity standard, while
scienter allegations neesatisfy onlythe Rule 8 notice pleading standa8ke Silingp

904 F.3dat 679 (“Although the circumstances of a fraud must be pleadih
particularity, knowledge may be pleaded generally.”).

On this motion, Kootenai Health argubsth FCA claims should be dismissed
becaus¢he complaint failso plausibly or particularly plead facts demonstratimg first
three elements offraud andthat the allegations of fraudulent activity are “fatally
deficient.” (Dkt. 36, 46.)For the reasons that follow, the Court finds the FCA claims are
adequately stated anthereforethe motion to dismiss will be denied as to the first and
second claims for relief.

A. False Statement or Fraudulent Course of Conduct

Relators assert two theories of FCA liability, alleging Kootenai Health submitted
claims for reimbursement to Medicare that were 1) factually false and 2) legally false.

A factually falseclaim is theprototypicalFCA action alleging “an explicit lie in a
claim for payment, such as an overstatement of the amountldi&.ex rel. Modglin v.
DJO Global Inc, 48 F. Supp. 3d 1362, 1387 (C.D. Cal. 201A)factually false claim is

one in which ‘the claim for payment is itself literally false or frauduldsjted States ex
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rel. Hendow v. Univ. of Phoeni®61 F.3d 1166, 1170 (9th Cir. 2006), such as when the
claim ‘involves an incorrect description of goods or services provided or a request for
reimbursement for goods or services never providedikesv. Straus 274 F.3d687,

697 (2d Cir. 2001).

A legally false claim occus when a party represents, or falsely certifies,
compliance with a statute or regulation as a condition to payment without actually
complyingwith thestatute or regulatiordendow 461 F.3d at 117IThere are two types
of false certification claims—express false certification and implied false certification.

Express false certificatiorf‘'means that the entity seeking payment [falsely]
certifies compliance with a law, rule or regulation as part of the process through which
the claim for payment is submitted..S. ex rel. Rose v.Stephens Institute909 F.3d
1012, 1017 (9th Cir. 2018yuoting Ebeid 616 F.3dat 998). Impliedfalse certification
“occurs when an entity hgseviouslyundertaken to expressly comply with a law, rule, or
regulation [but does not], and that obligation is implicated by submitting a claim for
payment even though a certification of compliance is not required in the process of
submitting the claim.’ld. (emphasis in original¥] T]he implied certification theory can
be a basis for liability, where two conditions asdisfied first, the claim does not merely
request payment, but also makes specific representations about the goods or services
provided; and second, the defendarfailure to disclose noncompliance with material
statutory,regulatory, or contractual requirements makes those representations misleading
half-truths.” Universal Health Servs., Inc. v. U.S. ex E$cobar 136 S. Ct.1989, 200

(2016);see also Ros®09 F.3d at 1018.
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Kootenai Health argues the allegatioinsthe complaintdo not identify with
particularity the who, what, when, where, and how of the alleged misconduct sufficient to
satisfy Rule 9's requirements for pleading fraundier either theory. (Dkt. 36.) The Court
disagrees.

“To state an FCA claim, a relator is not requireddentify actual examples of
submitted false claims; instedd, is sufficient to allege particular details of a scheme to
submit false claims paired with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inference that claims
were actually submitted."Godecke 937F.3d at 1209quotingEbeid 616 F.3dat 998—

99 (marks and citation omitteld) Although representative examplase one means of
meeting the pleading obligatipra ‘relator is not required to identify represdiva
examples of false claims to support every allegatitth.For purposes of this motion, the
Relators have met their burden.

Relators claim Kootenai Health engaged in a scheme to defraud the government
by submitting fraudulent claims and using false records material to claims presented to
Medicare. Thealleged scheme is composed sk acts which are set forth in the
complaint Namely, that Kootenai Heath fraudulently obtained reimbursements from
Medicare 1) for services rendered at facilities it fraudulently represented as “provider
based” facilities; 2) for services provided by ramysicians using the MPFS billing
codes applicable to phgsan{provided care; 3) for inpatient admissions without
physicians’ orders; 4) for patients billed for-payments in violation of EMTLA; 5) for
claims containing false diagnosis codes; and 6) for patients whose rights Kootenai Health

violated. (Dkt. 29 at 1 3.)
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Relators allege that all six acisere legally fraudulent, either expressly or
implicitly, under the false certification theory; i.e., tKatotenai Health submittedaims
to Medicare falsely ertifying it had complied withall laws, rules, or mulations
governing the reimbursement of claims or other provision of benefits when, irt fead,
not done so Two of thefraudulentacts, Relators contendiere also factually false: 1)
improperuse ofMPFS billing codes for nephysician services ar®) claims containing
false diagnosis codes.

As discussed belowhé Court finds thesix actsof the alleged scheme are stated
with particularity. The complaintletails thefacts and circumstancasnderlying the
fraudulentacts and often, include example of the fraudulent conduct or particular
violation allegedly committed by Kootenai Heal(bkt. 29 at 7, 48, 56, 63, 64, 76,
103, 109.)

The first fraudulent acallegal is thatKootenai Health obtained reimbursement
from Medicare for services rendered at facilitiesaitsély represented were provider
based facilities when, in fact, they were not. The complaint al&getenai Health
billed Medicare for services rendered atifities that had been moved frons ihospital
campusto remote locationsvithout updating theenroliment informatioror obtaining
providerbased statugor the relocated facilities(Dkt. 29 at f180-52.) This practice
continued until November 201&hen, & Ms. Garrett's “insistence,Kootenai Health
corrected addresses faome ofthe relocated facilities. When doing showever,
Relators allegeKootenai Health falsified the dates for relocation and omitted other

facilities “in an attempt to minimize the amounts CMS caelcbver” in overpayments.
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(Dkt. 29 at 944 45.) Additionally, thecomplaint alleges Kootenai Health billed
Medicare at the providdrased rate foother facilitiesthat had always been off campus
seventeen in particular, that dibt qualify for that stus. Thisfraudulent practice
enabled Kootenai Health talsely bill Medicare at a higher rate awotitaina larger
reimbursement than it was entitled to for services rendered at these facilities.

The second fraudulent aatlegal is that, during Ms. Garrett's tenurd§ootenai
Health routinely used thMPFS to fraudulently bill andobtain higher reimbursement
from Medicarefor services rendered hyon-physicianss if theservieswere rendered
by physicians(Dkt. 29 at {153, 55, 60, 68, 69.Jhe complaint identifiesome ofthe
types of treatmestallegedlyperformed by noiphysicians(Dkt. 29 at 166.) Importantly
for this motion,the complaintdescribesthe fraudulent conducto involve Kootenai
Health’'spractice of usingtreatment protocls” that allowednon-physiciango perform
certain procedures “automaticaflycoupled with its electronic medical record system
that did notensure a physiciaproperly authenticateéach protocebased treatment.
(Dkt. 29 at M161-63.)This practice, Relators allegallowed Kootenai Healthto submit
claims using MPFS that were both legally and factually fadsel to obtain
reimbursement it was not otherwise qualified to obtain.

Thefifth act alleged is thaKootenai Health olained Medicare reimbursement for
claims containing false diagnosis codes. (Dkt. 29 &2§500.) The complaintstates
Kootenai Health “intentionally recorded incorrect diagnosis codes to circumaadt”
“fraudulently improve” certain specified regulatory quality measures hospitat

acquired condibns and to avoida possible financial penalty to its Medicare
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reimbursements for applicable hospital discharges. (Dkt. 29 22,194, 96.)Kootenai
HealtHs practice of submittinglaims for reimbursement to Medicare usthg incorrect
diagnosis codesRelators contend, is botlactually and legally false and, therefore,
fraudulent. (Dkt. 29 at 1 99, 100.)

Theallegations describing the remaining three fraudulent acts, altrsmugéwhat
less detailedare likewisesufficiently particular to satisfy Rulef@r purposes ofleciding
this motion. Each allegdacts describing howduring Ms. Garrett’'s employment,
Kootenai Health routinelysubmittedlegally falseclaims for Medicare reimburseme
certifying its compliance witlall requirements for paymemthen in fact,it had violated
specific regulations. (Dkt. 29 at ¥92-77, 87, 91, 107, 109, 1207This is adequate to
provide Kootenai Health notice of tiparticularallegations of misconduct made against
it so that it can defend against the clafims.

Moreover, the allegations the complaintare paired with reliable indicideading
to a strong inference th&tootenai Healthactually submitted false claims to Medicare.
The FCA claims arebased on Ms. Garrett's personal knowledge observationmade
during the course of her employmentKootenai Health, which span from approximately
August 2015 until July 24, 2017{Dkt. 29 at Y119, 21, 22, 42, 5565, 72, 74¢5, 78,87,

88, 98,99, 108, 117) The complaintstates thaMs. Garrett reported the alleged illegal

3 Kootenai Health’s briefing on this motion concerning tability of the allegedregulatory
violations isalsoindicative of the adequacy of the pleadiragd that Kootenai Health iaware
of and able talefend itself against the claim®kt. 36, 46.)
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conduct to Kootenai Healtivho did not correct the violations before submitting claims
falsely certifying its complianceand, instead, direetl Ms. Garrett to stop looking for
violations. (Dkt. 29 at ¥4, 60, 7781, 91, 96100, 107.)Kootenai Health’'salleged
statements and actions made in response to Ms. Garrett's rapariisdicativeof the
reliability of the allegations. (Dkt. 29 at #®, 52,57, 63, 8881, 108, 113, 116.pther
allegations are further inda of the fraudulent nature of Kootenai Health’s actions; such
as submitting claing at higher billing ratesto receive larger reimbursemerdcts
designé to avoidfinancial penaltiesand practices toexpedite thepayment of claims
(Dkt. 29 at 11 32, 44, 49, 80-81, 92, 96-100.)

For all of these reasonshe Court finds theallegations ofthe fraudulent scheme
are sufficiently particular to state the FCA aiai. The facts underlying the six fraudulent
acts identify the specific circumstances of the alleged misconduct making up the FCA
fraud claims; i.e., the who, what, when, where, and how of the acts. (DktTI28.)
complaint allege particular details of fraudulent schembky Kootenai Heattcoupled
with a reliable indiciaupon whicha strong inferencean be mad¢hat false claims and
recordswere actually submittetb Medicare Ebeid 616 F.3d 9989. The pleadings
provide noticeof the particular misconduct allegéd allow Kootenai Health talefend
itself against the laims. Godecke 937 F.3d at 1208That is all that is required ahis
pleading stage.

B. Scienter

Liability under the FCA is established only when the defendant acts knowingly. 31

U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1)')K nowingly,” in the context of the FCAmeans a person: (1) has
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“actual knowledge of the information”; (2) “acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or
falsity of the information”; or (3) “acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the
information.” 31 U.S.C§ 3729(b)(1) This elenent “require[s]no proof of specific intent
to defraud” and need only meet Rule 8's general pleading stand&irdU.S.C. §
3729(b)(1)(B). “[It is sufficient to plead that the defendant knowingly filed false claims,
or that the defendant submitted false claims with reckless disregard or deliberate
ignorance as to the truth or falsity of its representatidaedecke 937 F.3d 1201.

The complaintllegesfacts that plausiblghowKootenai Health’'s knowledge that
it was filing falseand fraudulentlaims suficient tosatisfy Rule 8 The complainstates
thatMs. Garrettmade numerous reports her supervisors aritie directors of Kootenai
Health abouthe violationsupon which the fraud claims are based. (Dkt. 29 at 1 22, 42,
65, 79.)She allege&ootenai Healtracknowledged the reports ln@sistedVs. Garretis
efforts to correct thallegedlyillegal practices. (Dkt. 29 at ¥R, 80, 126 Further, there
areallegations from which Kootenai Health’s knowledge can be inferred, such as emails
and statements made by Kootenai Heslthrectors andhe factthat Kootenai Health
had been previously cited fsome of the sameagulatory violations(Dkt. 29 at {1 52,
57,63, 7981, 108, 113116.)The Court finds this element of the FCA claimproperly
plead.

C. Materiality

The FCA defines the terfimaterial’ as “having a natural tendency to influence,
or be capable of influencing, the payment or receipt of money or propertid”3C. 8

3729(b)(4).To establish materiality, the false statement or conduct must be “material to
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the government’s decision to pay out moneys to the claimbgridow 461 F.3dat

1173 The “keyquestion is whether the government is likely to attach significance to the
[statutory, regulatory, or contractual] requirement in deciding whether to tender
payment.”United States v. Celgene Caor@26 F. Supp. 3d 1032, 1049 (C.D. Cal. 2016)
(citing Escobar 136 S. Ct. at 20023 (2016)). This is a “demanding” requireméort a
plaintiff to prove.Escobar 136 S. Ctat 2003.

Regulatory violations alone are not sufficient to give rise to a cause of action
under the FCAU.S. ex rel.Hopperv. Anton 91 F.3d1261, 1266 gth Cir. 1996. “A
misrepesentation cannot be deemed material merely because the Government designates
compliance with a particular statutory, regulatory, or contractual requirement as a
condition of payment.Escobar 136 S. Ct. at 2003ee alsdrose, 909 F.3dat 1020 (A
condition of payment is not automatically dispositive of materiality,itist relevani.
Rather, “materialitjooks to theeffect on the likely or actual behavior of the recipient of
the alleged misrepresentation,” meaning the governmeéatdbar 136 S.Ct. at 2002In
determiningwhether false claimsre material, courts consider several relevant, but not
necessarily dispositive, factor&odecke 937 F.3d at 1213setting forth theEscobar
factors).

First,a court may considevhether the Gvernment decided “to expressly identify
a provision as a condition of paymenid. Second,evidence that the defendant knows
that the Government consistently refuses to pay claims in the mird caises based on
noncompliance with the particular statutory, regulatory, or contractual requirement”

weighs in favor of materialityld. Third, “if the Government pays a particular claim in
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full despite its actual knowledge that certain requirements were violated, that is very
strong evidence that those requirements are not matédaFourth,”“if the Government
regularly pays a particular type of claim in full despite actual knowledge that certain
requirements were violated, and has signaled no change in position, that is strong
evidence that the requirements are not material.”at 2003-04. Fifth, materiality
“cannot be found where noncompliance is minor or insubstaniialdt 2003; see also

Rose 909 F.3dat 1022 Escobarfactors include consideration of the magnitude of the
violation; the likelihood of materiality increases with a violation’s severity).

The facts asserteih the complaint here plausiblyand with the requisite
particularity, showthe allegedly fraudulentacts by Kootenai Health were materi&d
Medicare’s paymentof funds The complaintalleges Kootenai Health knowingly
presented false claims and used fals@ndcausing Medicareto reimburse Kootenai
Healthfor claims it was not otherwise entitled to receive payment(Ritt. 29 at 16,

160, 166, 1679

The complaint generally desceib Medicare’s tatutory frameworkand that
payments areconditiored upon compliance with Medicare’s regulations, program
instructions, and conditions of participation. (Dkt. 29 al§9-148.) The complaint then

alleges that the particular fraudulent acts by Kootenai Health “caused the

4 Much of Kootenai Health’s briefing on the motion to disni&puteswhether it violated th
regulations, laws, and other program requirements. (Dkt. 36, 46.) Those arguamentt
addressed in this Order as they are not relevant to the motion preSefaig the Court
challenging the sufficiency of the pleading.
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Government.to pay out sums it would not have otherwise padd it been made
aware of the falsity dfthe] claims and certification’s (Dkt. 29 at {1 160, 16)fAnd, that
Kootenai Health knowingly presented false claims and used false records material to the
false claims “causing Medicare to pay millions of dollars in reimbursements that should
not have been paid.” (Dkt. 29 at5f) For examplethe complaint allegethat “[a]
claimant’s compliance with the requirements for provio@sed status is material to the
government’s decision to pay Medicare claims at the provadsed level [and] had the
government known that [Kootenai Health’s] facilities did not meet the requirements for
providerbased status, it would not have reimbursed the claims at that level.” (Dkt. 29 at
1 50.) Thee allegationsplead materiality with sufficient particularitypy asserting
Medicare’s paymest of claims were influenced or caused by Kootenai Health’'s
fraudulent acts, not merely because of any regulatory violations or conditions of payment.
The Court is mindful of theSupreme Court’anstruction in Escobarthat the
FCA’s materiality requirement is not “too fact intensive for courts to dismiss cases on a
motion to dismiss or at summary judgmeriEscobar 136 S.Ct. at 2004 n. 6. Ere,
however,Kootenai Health’s arguments concerning Bszobarfactors e.g., whether the
government regularly paysr refuses to pay claims based on noncompliance with the
regulatory requirements; whether Kootenai Healtlevkithe governmentonsistently
refusedto pay claims based on noncompliance with those regulations; and wtiether
noncompliance is minor or insubstantial, are consideratmma later motion. (Dkt. 46.)
At this juncture the complaint contains sufficierallegations regrding the materiality of

Kootenal Health’s acts to withstand a motion to dismiss
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2. Retaliation Under the FCA

The complaint’sthird claim for relief is an FCA retaliation claim brought by
Relator Robbie Garrett against Kootenai HeaBlbction 3730(hpf the FCA protects
employeesvho come forward with evidendhat thattheir employer is defrauding the
Government fronmretaliation.U.S. ex rel. Lupo v. Quality Assurance Servs., 12
F.Supp.3d 1020, 1028 (S.D. Cal. 2017The statuteprotects an employee who is
“discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other manner
discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment” for acts “in furtherance
of” an FCA claim or “other efforts to stop” fraud agains¢ Government. 31 U.S.C. §
3730(h)(1).

To state a claim for retaliation under the FCA, Ms. Gameist showthat (1) she
engaged in activity protected under the statute; (2) Kootenai Hewiv she was
engaged irprotected activity; and (3) Kootenai Heatttaliated against hérecause she
engaged in protected activitylendiondov. Centinela Hosp. Med. C{r521 F.3d1097,
1103 (9th Cir. 2008) Unlike thefraud claimsthe heightened pleading requiremeats
Rule 9(b)do not applyto the retaliationclaim, which“need only satisfy the Rule 8(a)
notice pleading standard...to survive a Rule 12(b)(6)” motidn.at 1104 (quoting
Edwards v. Marin Park, In¢c356 F.3d 1058, 1062 (9th Cir. 2004)).

Kootenai Healthseeksdismissal of the retaliation claimrarguingMs. Garrets
allegations do not establish thette wasengaged in grotected activity that Kootenai
Health knew she was engaged in a proteat#lity; ora causal connectidmetween the

protected activity and Kootenai Health'’s retaliatory actions. (Dkt. 36.)
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A. Protected Activity

“An employee engages in a protected activity by ‘investigating matters which are
calculated or reasonably could lead to a viablgAFaction.” Campie 862 F.3dat 907
(9th Cir. 2017) (quotingvoore v. Cal. Inst. of Tech. Jet Propulsion L&b/5 F.3d 838,
845 (9th Cir. 2002)) More specifically,“an employee engages in protected activity
where (1) the employee in good faith believes, and (2) a reasonable employee in the same
or similar circumstances might believe, that the employer is possibly committing fraud
against the governmeniVloore, 275 F.3dat 845.

To engage in a protected activity, the employee does not ndeal/éo“specific
awareness” of the FCA or threaten #maployer with suit pursuant to the FCoore,
275 F.3dat 845;Mendiondg 521 F.3d at 11041n fact, retaliation remains possible even
if no FCA violation is ultimately proven or prosecutedosey v. Impulse Dynamics
(USA) Inc, 371 F.Supp.3d 603, 608 (D. Ariz. 2019)The “investigatory activity” must
however, have a “nexus to the FCA.Hopper 91 F.3dat 1269. Investigation of
regulatory noncompliance alone or “attempting to get [an employer] to comply with
Federal and State regulations” are not protected actividies

The allegationsn the complainthereare sufficientto state aplausilde claim that
Ms. Garrett was engaged in a protected activity. The antphllegeKootenai Health
wasengaged in a scheme defraudthe United Stateby submittingfraudulent and false
claims to Medicarefor services not provided or provided in violation of Medicare
regulations and program requiremer(@@kt. 29 at TfL-5) Throughout the complaint,

Ms. Garrettallegesshe madeumerous attempts to correghat she believed werkegal
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practicesby Kootenai Healthdonein furtherance of that fraudulent scheme, including
reporting the regulatory violationte Kootenai Health. (Dkt. 29 at 191-22,30, 40, 44,
4950, 60, 69,7981, 96,117, 124, 174.75) €.9.,“Robbie attempted numerous times to
correct Defendant’s illegal practiceahd “[ijn an effort to correct the...illegal practices,
Robbie reported this issue to her supervisors and Defendant’s directarke).
allegations are sufficient to plausibly allege Ms. Garrett was engaged in a protected
activity in connection to an FCA violation; namely, correcting illegal fraudulent billing
practicesMoore, 275 F.3dat 845.

B. Notice

Ms. Garrettmust nextestablish thaKootenai Health knevehewas engaged ia
protected activity. Unless an employer is aware its employee is investigating fraud, the
employer cannot “possess the retaliatory intent necessary to establish a violation of
§ 3730(h).”Hopper, 91 F.3dat 1269 (citingRobertson v. Bell Helicopter TextroB2
F.3d 948, 95652 (5th Cir. 1994))An allegation of knowledge is not a “high bar” at the
motion to dismiss stag&ee Campie862 F.3d at 908 (discussimdendiondo 521 F.3d
at 1104).

When an employee’s jolduties involve monitoring and reporting activities
however, it takes more than aemployer’'s knowledge of that activity to show that an
employer was on notice of a potentgli tamsuit.” Campie 862 F.3dat 908 (citingU.S.
ex rel. Ramseyer v. Century Healthcare Cog0 F.3d 1514, 1523 (10th Cir. 1996)
(holding retaliation allegation insufficient where plaintiff's job duties entailed the

monitoring and reporting activities at issuRpbertson32 F.3dat 952.To show notice
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in a retaliation claim based on activities falling within the relator’s scope of employment,
the relator musallege the law was being violated and the relator’s intention to report the
violation. United States v. Somnia, InQ018 WL 684765, at *10 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 2,
2018) (discussin@ampieandRamseygr

Kootenai Health maintairthe allegationsieredo notestablish noticesinceit had
no way of knowing Ms. Garrett was investigating or reporting fiaechuse monitoring
and reportingregulatory compliance wemuties ofMs. Garrett’'s position as executive
director of quality services. (Dkt. 36 at 18-19.) The Court disagrees.

The complaint alleges Ms. Garrett discovevddespread violationsf the FCA
and other federal laws, regulations, and guidelsh@sng her employmant (Dkt. 29 at
1919-21.)Ms. Garrett reported the violations to Kootenai Hedhtile Ms. Garrets
position involved auditing Kootenai Health’s practices to ensure corsphaith federal
regulations,her reports to Kootenai Healthaking up the claims in this caseere not
exclusive tomereregulatory violations. Instead, the complaint alleges Ms. Garratte
numerouscomplaints andeports to Kootenai Health’'s officers and directors “[@n
effort to correct the illegal practicés(Dkt. 29 at 4 22, 124, 172.For example, the
complaint alleges Ms. Garrett reported issues concerning reimbursements for inpatient
admissionsand other illegal practices to her supervisamgd Kootenai Health's directors
to “remediate” the problem. (Dkt. 29 af %6 at n. 6, 65, 78-80.)Ms. Garrett further
alleges her supervisor acknowledged the “illegality” of Kootenai Health’s billing for
services by noiphysicians using the physician fee scheduled; stating “the illegality of

this situation kept her up at nigh{Dkt. 29 at 167.) Importantly Ms. Garrettalleges
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Kootenai Health openly resisted her efforts to stopiltgal conductby telling herto
“stop looking for violations” and that she was costing Kootenai Health revenue;ihgrass
Ms. Garrett; and, eventually, demanding that she resign. (Dkt. 29 at 11 22, 125-130.)

Drawing the inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, the allegations plausibly
establish Kootenai Health was placed on notice that Ms. Garrett was investigating fraud
which could reasonably lead to a viable FCA clams. Garrets reportsto Kootenai
Health as allegedwere madeo correctallegedillegal fraudulent practicesot simplyto
reportregulatory compliancéssues in theourse ® her employment.Kootenai Health
responded bypenly and actively resisg her efforts For purposes of this motion, the
Court finds the allegations are sufficiamith respect to noticeVhetherthe claim can
survive a later substantive motion remains to be seen.

C. Causal Connection

The final element of the retaliation claim requiMs. Garrettto show Kootenai
Health retaliated against hdrecause she engaged in protected activtg. Garrett
claims Kootenai Healthengaged in retaliatory actions, including harassment and
termination, in response to her efforts to stop and correct the alleged illegal activities.
(Dkt. 29 at 111 22, 171.)

Again, the complaint alleges Kootenai Health openly resisted Ms. Gagftiits
to correct the illegal practices, told her to “stop looking for violations,” stated her actions
costKootenai Health revenue, and engaged in a “campaign of harassment” against Ms.
Garrettby issuingbaseles$ormal reprimands. (Dkt. 29 at 185128, 130.) Ultimately,

Ms. Garrett allegesKootenai Health “directly demanded” that she resign from her
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position, which she did on July 24, 2017. (Dkt. 29 4di29.) These allegationsre
sufficient, at this stageto state a plausible causal connection betwdlsn Garrett's
protected activities and the alleged retaliatory actions of Kootenai Health.
3. Termination in Violation of Public Policy under Idaho Common Law

In Idaho, “[u]nless an employee is hired pursuant to a contract which specifies the
duration of the employment, or limits the reasons why the employee may be discharged,
the employee is ‘at will.””Harris v. Treasure Canyon Calcuim Cd.32 F.Supp. 3d
1228, 1238 (D. ldaho 2015) (quotindgnable v. Internet Auto Rent & Sales, Jr829
P.3d 356, 360Idaho 2014))An atwill employee may beerminated “at any time [or]
for any reason without creating liabilityEdmondson v. Shearer Lumber Produdts
P.3d 733, 7371aho2003). Idaho has, howevdong recognized “a narrow exception to
the atwill employment presumption where the empldganotivation for the termination
contravenes public policyld. (quotingBollinger v. Fall River Rural Elec. Gop., Inc,

272 P.3d 1263, 1271 (Idaho 2012)).

“A termination contravenes public policy only where an employee is terminated
for engaging in some protected activity, which includes (1) refusing to commit an
unlawful act, (2) performing an important public obligation, or (3) exercising certain
legal rights and privileges.ld. To bring a successful claim under the public policy
exceptionto theatwill employmentpresumption, “an employee must show (1) iz
was engaged in a legally protected activity; and (2) that there is a causal relationship

between her engagement in the protected activity and her terminddion.”
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Kootenai Heath argues this claim should be dismissed because the cofaptaint
to state degally viable claim, pleads insufficient facts state a plausible clairand is
duplicative of thestatutory remedwvailableunder the FCA. (Dkt. 36Relators maintain
they have stated aiable andplausible claimthat Kootenai Healthterminated Ms.
Garretts employmentn violation of public policy. (Dkt. 41.) Relatofsrther argue the
claim is not duplicative because Ms. Garrett was performamgimportant public
obligation separate and distinétom the FCA violationspy protecting the health and
well-being of Kootenai Health’s patients. (Dkt. 4ThHe Court finds theomplaint states,
at this stage of the pleadingsgdausible claim.

Thecomplaint alleges Ms. Garrett was engaged in an important public obligation
protecting thehealth and welbeing of Kootenai Health’patients.(Dkt. 29 at {{ 121,
124-130, 173177.) For purposes of this motiorMs. Garetts performance ofthat
iImportant public obligations sufficiently linked to the allegations that Ms. Galrrwas
terminated in retaliation for her efforts to protect the health andbeelly of Kootenai
Health’s patients. (Dkt. 29 at 180, 176.)It is not decided at this stagehowever,
whether tiis claimis duplicativeof the FCA claimsSee McWilliams v. Latah Sanitation,
Inc., 554 F.Supp.2d 1165, 1185 (D. Idaho 2008) (“[S]tatutory remedies under the ADA
for the same allegations asserted within a wrongful dischargeidlation of public
policy] claim necessarily preclude the latter, separate, duplicative claiecprdingly,

the motion to dismiss will be denied with respect to the common law public ptdioy.
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ORDER
NOW THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss (Dkt.

36) isDENIED.

DATED: June 17, 2020

Honorable Candy W. Dale
United States Magistrate Judge
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